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2017 was a year of transition and 
celebration for Guardian Media 
Limited as it implemented a number 
of planned structural changes 
necessary to remain competitive 
whilst also ensuring that the 
centenary year of the Guardian 
newspaper was appropriately 
acknowledged. 

The redesign of the newspaper was 
perfectly timed in order to herald its 
100th anniversary complimented 
by a commemorative book and 
journalistic conference. Both 
ventures highlighted the continued 
contribution of newspapers and the 
media to Trinidad and Tobago both 
past and future, a responsibility 
which Guardian Media Limited is 
committed to delivering for many 
years to come.

Structural changes to the business 
in 2017 included: (1) print 
automation systems to improve 
efficiency; (2) internal restructuring 
to lower the cost base and further 
improve the efficiency and quality 
of content creation and (3) re-
alignment of teams to better serve 
our customers and fully equip 
the company for the digital media 
landscape.  The one-time costs 
of these changes are reflected in 
these results. 
 
Parallel to this, the country’s 
economic slowdown has had a 
considerable impact on advertising 
spend across all sectors - a local 
reflection of a Global downturn in 
traditional media advertising.

As a result, revenues reported were 
$138 million ($164 million – 2016) 
reflecting a decline of 16% whilst a 
before tax loss of $2.2 million ($16 
million profit – 2016) was incurred.  
I am pleased to note that despite 
this, operating cash generated 
remained positive at $19 million 
($42 million – 2016).

Despite these challenges, Guardian 
Media has achieved progress in 
2017 with many initiatives aimed 

at progressing the Company along 
its strategic path: the Electronic 
Billboard project is progressing 
well and, at year end, twelve large 
digital boards were installed with 
the remaining three due to be 
fully commissioned in 1Q 2018; in 
Guyana, Government approval was 
received for the iRadio licence and 
we can now embark on improving 
the reach and returns from this 
business thus boosting our 
revenues; our TV Channel, CNC3, 
continues to perform strongly, 
maintaining its leading position at 
prime time, whilst we also continue 
to be the industry leaders in local 
content creation with new and 
innovative programmes; on print, we 
have made further improvements 
to T&T Guardian’s efficiency and 
marked its centenary with a brand 
new look and enhanced content – 
the change continues, with more 
improvements planned for 2018; 
the renovation of our output is 
also reflected in radio, beginning 
with the relaunch of our 95.1FM 
frequency as 951Remix, with a new 
line up and enhanced content; our 
digital offer is also growing, with 
the innovative CNC3 News app 
quickly becoming one of the most 
successful news apps in T&T and 
more to come in 2018.

Looking forward to 2018, in addition 
to the transformation plan in place, 
Guardian Media will be T&T’s home 
of the FIFA World Cup in Russia, 
with CNC3 broadcasting live 
football in High Definition on tv and 
digital platforms, together with radio 
commentary, multimedia content 
and full newspaper coverage of 
events.

Overall, Guardian Media Limited 
now has seven radio frequencies, 
fifteen (end 1Q) digital billboards, 
a leading tv station and a growing 
digital portfolio. The number of 
digital connections exceeds 1 
million daily and our bundled 
services offer our clients the right 
mix of platforms incorporating all 
aspects of both traditional and 

digital media which is critical for us 
to remain the leading local Multi- 
Media house.

We remain confident in the 
transformation of the business 
and I would like to acknowledge 
the contribution made by Directors 
Teresa White and Reginald Armour 
S.C., who left the Board in 2017. 

As the new Chair, I would like to 
thank the new Directors, Sharon 
Christopher, Alain Nicholas Sabga, 
Davan Maharaj and Winston Singh, 
together with our existing members 
of the Board, for their contribution 
throughout the year.  

A special thanks to Mr. Lucio 
Mesquita our Managing Director 
and Mr Sean Griffith Company 
Secretary who left us on April 6th 
and April 9th 2018, respectively 
and a special welcome to our 
new Managing Director Mr. Alain 
Nicholas Sabga and our new 
Chief Financial Officer/Company 
Secretary, Mrs Hema Ramdass-
Chatoor.  On behalf of the Board 
of Directors we wish to express our 
sincere gratitude to Lucio for this 
stewardship of this enterprise at 
one of the most challenging times 
in recent economic history.
   
I am also grateful for the support 
of our stakeholders throughout this 
challenging year. We are confident 
that the strategic direction which 
the Management and Board 
of Guardian Media Limited are 
committed to achieving will propel 
the business to be brand leaders 
across all its platforms and that the 
legacy built by the original founders 
of the newspaper will be echoed 
throughout all offerings of our proud 
and respected Media house for the 
next century.

_
_____________________
Peter Clarke
Chairman
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“Although in 2017 the economy 
continued to be slow the Guardian 
Neediest Cases Fund was still able 
to assist seven hundred and twenty 
two (722) families through its financial 
assistance (disability, book, medical, 
house repairs, general expenses) and 
annual Christmas Grant.

The Trustees of Guardian Neediest 
Cases Fund are very grateful to all 

the employees of GML and the ANSA 
Group of Companies for their continued 
support. It is to be noted that the 
employees of GML donated 16.23% of 
the total donations received from the 
ANSA Group of Companies.

In 2018 as the fund seeks to ‘make a 
difference’ in the lives of those who 
need it most, it is hoped that the fund 
will continue to grow.”

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
Guardian Neediest

Cases Fund
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Managing Director’s Report 
We had a challenging year, 
especially in relation to our financial 
performance, given the considerable 
retraction in advertising spend by 
businesses and state organisations 
in 2017.

The economy ought to pick up in the 
coming years but we also know that 
some of the shifts in ad spend are 
here to stay, especially as the digital 
market grows worldwide.  Given this 
reality, we had to make some hard 
decisions to reduce costs, including 
job losses.

Cuts alone are not enough to turn a 
company around and prepare it for 
a new reality. We have been busy 
in 2017 setting in motion a number 
of actions and changes to put us in 
a position to grow across all media 
sectors. This approach will continue 
into 2018 and beyond.

In 2017, we launched a brand new 
T&T Guardian newspaper look, 
to coincide with its centenary. 
With a cleaner, simpler and more 
modern look, it is designed to be 
easier to read and suited for the 
kind of journalism we want for the 
newspaper: to the point but also 
with the depth and context we know 
discerning readers in Trinidad and 
Tobago want from their newspaper. 
The changes continue, with exciting 
plans for new content in 2018.

The centenary celebrations also 
included a special conference 
bringing together some of the best 
international media professionals to 
help T&T understand the challenges 
and the successes of a sector 
transformed by the digital economy. 

We also published a special book 
charting the story of the T&T 
Guardian and the stories that 
marked the life of these islands since 
1917, as told by the longest running 
daily newspaper in the country.

The changes went beyond news-
paper.  We have relaunched one of 
T&T’s most iconic radio stations, 
95.1 Mix FM, now 951 Remix, to 
bring a more contemporary and en-
gaging sound to the station. This 
was the first of more improvements 
planned for our radio stations in 
2018.

In Guyana, the radio licence 
landscape became a lot clearer, 
allowing for licences to be issued 
to our 90.1 FM station there, paving 
the way for the planned transmitter 
upgrade which will help us 
increase the coverage area beyond 
Georgetown.

On CNC3, and building on the 
success of other local and original 
content like the Rundown, the 
new Sunny @ Sundown at 6pm is 
developing a strong following, proof 
that audience-leading programmes 
do not have to be only about crime 
and violence. We are pleased that 
Sunny Bling’s mix of interviews, 
music and celebration of what is 
great about T&T is finding such 
a strong resonance amongst our 
viewers. We have plans for more 
original content in 2018, as well as 
full coverage of the World Cup in 
Russia.

The work to improve Guardian 
Media’s digital presence continued 
apace in 2017. The CNC3 News app 
is now live, bringing market-leading 
breaking news, news video content 
and live streaming of the channel’s 
programmes. Work is in progress for 
a brand new Guardian website and 
e-paper edition, expected to launch 
by mid-2018. In fact, Guardian 
Media’s combined digital presence 
is first among the country’s media 
organisations. 

To complete the most powerful mix 
of advertising options, the roll out 
of our digital billboards continued in 

2017, with the last of the 15 state-of-
the-art boards scheduled to go live 
by April 2018.

We also took the final steps to 
complete the launch of all systems 
acquired as part of our ‘Print 
Optimisation’ plan. Sales and 
Finance started the migration to the 
new system in late 2017, completing 
it in early 2018. Later in the year, 
the final major module, focusing on 
Circulation, will go live, together with 
the launch of the applications which 
will allow news production and sales 
to be done via mobile devices.

The financial results are a 
disappointment, especially for a 
year when the Guardian Media 
team worked so hard to improve our 
products and services. However, 
we know the advertising market is 
and will continue to be challenging 
as businesses and state bodies 
continue to reduce their marketing 
budgets and some of the spend 
migrates to social media providers. 

The loss, though, is primarily a result 
of one-off expenses, especially 
severance payments and Guardian 
100 activities, and I remain confident 
Guardian Media is on the right path 
to resume strong multimedia sales 
in 2018 and beyond. We have 
improving products and a ground-
breaking approach to advertising in 
the Caribbean that will bear fruit as 
the changes bed in.

May I finish by thanking all staff, 
shareholders, board members 
and all other stakeholders for their 
continuing support to the company’s 
transformation.

____________________
Lucio Mesquita
Managing Director
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RESULTS FOR THE YEAR 2017

			   $ 		  $
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year			   <3,110>		

Deduct:
Dividend Paid:
PREFERENCE 	 - 	 Final 2016	 -	 4% 	 58		
		  Interim 2017 	 - 	 4%	 59
			 
ORDINARY 	 -	 Final 2016	 - 	 50 cents per share	 19,950
		  Interim 2017	 - 	 10 cents per share	 3,990 	 <24,057>
		
Other Transfers and Movements	                		  23
Deficit for the year 							      <27,144>
Retained Earnings and Other Reserves brought forward		  279,434
			        
Retained Earnings and Other Reserves at 31 December 2017		  252,290				       

DIVIDENDS
An Interim Dividend of 4% was paid to participating Preference Shareholders and 10 cents was paid to Ordinary 
Shareholders in November 2017. The Directors have declared Final Dividends of 4% and 50 cents per share to be 
paid to Preference and Ordinary Shareholders respectively, who are on the Register of Members on 18 May 2018.  
Dividends will be paid on 13 June 2018.

DIRECTORS
Under By-Law No 1, paragraph 4.3.2, Directors Peter Clarke, Jenifer Smith and Jeremy Matouk retire by rotation, 
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Lucio Mesquita resigned from the Board with effect from April 6th 2018. 

Under By-Law No 1, paragraph 4.3.6 it is being proposed that Messrs. Davan Maharaj and Winston Singh be 
re-elected Directors at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on May 21st, 2018.  

AUDITORS
The Auditors, Ernst & Young, retire and have indicated their willingness to be re-appointed.

__________________________
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Sean Griffith
Company Secretary

20 March 2018

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their Report to the Members  together with  
the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2017. 
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(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
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RE  P ORT    OF   T H E  DIRECTORS       



	 As at	 As at
	 31 December 2017	 28 February 2018

	 	 Beneficial	 Non Beneficial	 Beneficial	 Non Beneficial

P. Clarke	 (a)	 -	 -	 -		 -
	 (b)	 -	 -	 -		 -

C. Sabga	 (a)	 -	 -	 -		 -
	 (b)	 -	 -	 -		 -

J. Smith	 (a)	 -	 -	 -		 -
	 (b)	 -	 -	 -		 -

S. Gittens-Ottley	 (a)	 -	 -	 -		 -
	 (b)	 -	 -	 -		 -

S. Christopher	 (a)	 -	 -	 -		 -
	 (b)	 -	 -	 -		 -
	
B. Copeland	 (a)	 -	 -	 -		 -
	 (b)	 -	 -	 -		 -

A. Nicholas Sabga 	 (a) 	 -	 -	 -		 -
                       	 (b) 	 -	 -	 -		 -

J. Matouk	 (a)	  30,000	 -	 30,000		 -
	 (b)	  -	 -	 -		 -

D. Maharaj	 (a) 	 -	 -	 -		 -
                       	 (b) 	 -	 -	 -		 -

W. Singh	 (a)	 -	 -	 -		 -
	 (b)	  -	 -	 -		 -

L. Mesquita	 (a)	 -	 -	 -		 -
	 (b)	  -	 -	 -		 -

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST		
(a)	 Ordinary Shares
(b)	 $50.00 Preference Shares

22
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	 Shareholding	 Shareholding of
	 as at	 Connected Persons
	 December 31, 2017	 as at December 31, 2017
Peter Clarke	 -	 -	
Conrad Sabga	 -	 -
Jenifer Smith 	 -	 -
Sonja Gittens-Ottley	 -	 -
Sharon Christopher 	 -	 -
Brian Copeland	 -	 -
Alain Nicholas Sabga	 -	 -
Jeremy Matouk	 30,000	 -
Davan Maharaj	 -	 -
Winston Singh	 -	 -
Lucio Mesquita	 -	 -

1.	 ANSA McAL Limited	 20,411,671
2.	 Republic Bank Limited	 3,786,426
3.	 RBTT Trust Limited	 2,996,967
4.	 Tatil Life Assurance Limited	 1,889,619
5.	 Home Mortgage Bank	 1,656,818
6.	 MASA Investments Limited	 1,249,417
7.	 Colonial Life Insurance Co	 1,158,277
8.	 ANSA McAL Foundation	 715,980
9.	 Alvin K. Johnson	 512,615
10.	 Empire Investments Limited	 377,874

1.	 TATIL Life Assurance Limited	 12,053	
2.	 RBTT Trust Limited – T.964C	 6,536
3.	 Germaine Mouttet	 1,654
4.	 Stewart Mc Gowan	 1,152
5.	 Caribbean Stockbrokers	 721
6.	 Colonial Life Ins Co (Tdad) Ltd	 579
7.	 Dennis C. C. Pitt	 510
8.	 Gastavus C. B. Cox	 350
9.	 Stollmeyer Limited	 310
10.	 Krishna Changoor	 287
	

DIRECTORS’, SENIOR OFFICERS’, CONNECTED PERSONS’ 
AND SUBSTANTIAL INTEREST

TOP TEN SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED – 
ORDINARY SHARES AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

TOP TEN SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED – 
PREFERENCE SHARES AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
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ORDINARY BUSINESS

	 1.	 To receive and consider the audited Financial Statements for the year ended 
		  31 December 2017 and the report of the Directors and Auditors thereon. 

	 2.	 To re-elect Directors to the Board who retire by rotation.

	 3.	 To appoint Directors to the Board.

	 4.	 To re-appoint Auditors and authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration in 
		  respect of the period ending at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.

	 5.	 To transact any other ordinary business.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

____________________________
Hema Ramdass-Chatoor
Company Secretary

22-24 St. Vincent Street
Port-of-Spain, Trinidad 

19 April 2018

Notes:
	 1.	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend 
		  and vote instead of him.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company. Form of Proxy is enclosed.
	 2.	 No service contracts were entered into between the Company and any of its Directors.
	 3.	 A shareholder which is a body corporate may, in lieu of appointing a proxy, authorise an individual 
		  by resolution of its directors or its governing body to represent it at the Annual Meeting.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the One Hundredth and Second Annual Meeting of Guardian 
Media Limited (the “Company”) will be held at The Samaan Tree Room, Kapok Hotel, 16-18 
Cotton Hill, St Clair on Monday 21st May 2018 at 2:00PM for the following purposes:
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REPUBLIC OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

The Companies Act, 1995
(Section 144)

	 1.	 Name of Company:
		  GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED – Company No. G 2522(C)

	 2.	 Particulars of Meeting:
		  One Hundredth and Second Annual Meeting of the Company to be held on 
		  Monday 21st May 2018 at 2:00PM at The Samaan Tree Room, Kapok Hotel, 
		  16-18 Cotton Hill, St Clair.

	 3.	 Solicitation:
		  It is intended to vote the Proxy solicited hereby (unless the shareholder directs 
		  otherwise) in favour of all resolutions specified therein.

	 4.	 Any Director’s statement submitted pursuant to Section 76 (2):
		  No statement has been received from any Director pursuant to 
		  Section 76 (2) of The Companies Act, 1995.

	 5.	 Any Auditor’s statement submitted pursuant to Section 171 (1):
		  No statement has been received from the Auditors of the Company 
		  pursuant to Section 171 (1) of The Companies Act, 1995.

	 6.	 Any Shareholder’s proposal and/or statement submitted 
		  pursuant to Sections 116(a) and 117(2):
		  No proposal has been received from any Shareholder pursuant to 
		  Sections 116(a) and 117(2) of The Companies Act, 1995.

DATE NAME & TITLE SIGNATURE

19 April 2018
 

Company Secretary
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The Secretary
Guardian Media Limited
P.O. Box 122
Port-of-Spain
TRINIDAD

REPUBLIC OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

The Companies Act, 1995
(Section 144)

........................................................
Name of Member

........................................................
SIGNATURE OF MEMBER

I/WE ____________________________________________ being a member/members of the above 
named Company having its Registered Office at 22-24 St. Vincent Street, Port-of-Spain, do hereby 
appoint Mr. Peter Clarke of Port-of-Spain, or failing him, Mr. Alain Nicholas Sabga of Port-of-Spain or 
failing him, _________________________________ of _____________________________________, to be 
my/our Proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the One Hundredth and Second Annual Meeting 
of Guardian Media Limited to be held at The Samaan Tree Room, Kapok Hotel, 16-18 Cotton Hill,  
St Clair, on Monday 21st May 2018 at 2:00PM and at any adjournment thereof.

Signed this ______________ day of _________________________ 2018.

Notes:
	 1.	 To be effective, this Form of Proxy or other authority (if any) must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company, 
		  22-24 St. Vincent Street, Port-of-Spain, no later than forty-eight hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.
	 2.	 Any alterations made in this Form of Proxy should be initialled.
	 3.	 If the appointer is a corporation, this Form of Proxy must be under its Common Seal or under the hand of an officer 
		  of the corporation or attorney duly authorised in writing.
	 4.	 In the case of joint-holders, the signature of any one holder is sufficient but the names of all joint-holders should be stated.

FOR AGAINST

 RESOLUTION 1
That the audited Financial Statements of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 
December 2017 and the reports of the Directors 
and of the Auditors thereon, having been 
considered, be adopted.

RESOLUTION 2
Directors Peter Clarke, Jenifer Smith and Jeremy 
Matouk who retire, and being eligible in accor-
dance with By-Law No 1, paragraph 4.3.2 are 
hereby re-elected.

RESOLUTION 3

In accordance with By-Law No 1, paragraph 4.3.6 
the following persons be and are elected Directors 
of the Company.

• Mr. Davan Maharaj  
• Mr. Winston Singh 

RESOLUTION 4
To appoint Ernst & Young as Auditors and 
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Guardian Media Limited and its subsidiaries 
(“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2017, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material re-
spects, the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsi-
bilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accor-
dance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opin-
ion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Con-
solidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, 
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, 
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opin-
ion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

29
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Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Estimation uncertainty involved in 
impairment testing of goodwill and 
other intangibles with indefinite lives.

Refer to related disclosures in notes 3 
and 6, and accounting policy note 2 (xxiii) 
to the consolidated financial statements.  
As described in these notes, impairment 
tests are performed annually on goodwill 
and certain indefinite life licences.

As required by IAS 36: “Impairment of As-
sets”, management performed an impair-
ment test on these assets. 

Based on the impairment test performed 
during the year, no impairment was re-
corded in 2017.

Impairment tests on goodwill and other 
intangibles involve significant estimation 
and the application of a high level of judg-
ment relative to key assumptions such as 
the applicable discount rate and future 
cash-flows. 

In determining future cash-flow projec-
tions, management uses assumptions 
and estimates in respect of future market 
conditions, future economic growth, ex-
pected market share and gross margins. 

The outcome of the impairment testing is 
sensitive to these assumptions and es-
timates, such that changes in these as-
sumptions/estimates may result in differ-
ent impairment test conclusions. 

Our audit procedures focused on the as-
sessment of the key assumptions utilized 
by management including the cash-flow 
projections and the discount rate.  We 
also evaluated whether the value in use 
impairment test model met the require-
ments of IAS 36. 

To this end, our procedures included, 
amongst others, evaluating and testing 
the assumptions, methodologies, Cash 
Generating Unit (CGU) determination, 
discount rate and other key data used by 
management. 

We also assessed the assumptions by 
comparing to historical performance of 
the entity, local economic conditions and 
other alternative independent sources of 
information. In so doing we evaluated the 
sensitivity of the key assumptions to rea-
sonable possible changes which could 
cause the carrying amount of the CGU to 
exceed its recoverable amount.

We involved our EY valuation specialist 
to assist with our audit of the impairment 
test model, including the cash flows, dis-
count rate and long term growth rates.  

We also assessed the appropriateness of 
the disclosures in the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements, with refer-
ence to that prescribed by IFRSs.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
 (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

I N DE  P E N DE  N T  AUDITOR       ’ S  RE  P ORT 
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I N DE  P E N DE  N T  AUDITOR       ’ S  RE  P ORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(continued)

Other information included in the Group’s 2017 Annual Report

Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2017 Annual Report, 
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Manage-
ment is responsible for the other information. The Group’s 2017 Annual Report is expected 
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, con-
sider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and the Audit Committee 
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assess-
ing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters re-
lated to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.



I N DE  P E N DE  N T  AUDITOR       ’ S  RE  P ORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures re-
sponsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of inter-
nal control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty ex-
ists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial state-
ments represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GUARDIAN MEDIA LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit  of the Consolidated Financial Statements  
(continued)

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the en-
tities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is 
Mr. Andrew Tom.

Port-of-Spain,
TRINIDAD:
20 March 2018
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G UARDIA      N  M EDIA     L I M ITED     A N D  ITS    SU  B SIDIARIES       

			   2017	 2016
Assets	 Notes	 $	 $

  31 December

Non–current assets
	 Property, plant and equipment	 4	 110,731 	  118,032
	 Investment property	 5	 3,497 	  3,831
	 Intangible assets	 6	 17,334 	  20,840
	 Employee benefits asset	 7	 89,306 	  88,451
	 Deferred tax asset	 8	      2,762 	       1,947
	  		   
			    223,630 	  233,101 

Current assets				  
	 Inventories	 9	 6,415	  7,668
	 Intangible assets	 6	 1,299	  – 
	 Trade and other receivables	 10	 32,111	  38,994
	 Investment securities	 11	 19,011	  4,011
	 Taxation recoverable		  757	  493
	 Cash and short–term deposits	 12	     71,554	  98,850
				  
			      131,147 	   150,016
				  
TOTAL ASSETS		    354,777	    383,117
				  
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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			   2017	 2016
Equity and Liabilities	 Notes	 $	 $

  31 December

Equity
	 Stated capital	 13	 27,288 	  27,288 
	 Treasury shares	 13	 (1,460)	  (1,460)
	 Other reserves 	 13	 776 	  353 
	 Retained earnings		  251,514 	  279,081 
				  
			    278,118 	  305,262  

Non–current liabilities				  
	 Borrowings	 14	 1,082 	  1,174 
	 Employee benefits obligation	 7	 4,396 	  3,678 
	 Deferred tax liabilities	 8	 43,635 	  43,434 
			 
			    49,113 	  48,286
 
Current liabilities				  
	 Current portion of borrowings	 14	 455 	  802 
	 Trade and other payables	 15	 27,091 	  28,387 
	 Taxation payable		                 – 	         380 
				  
			    27,546 	   29,569 
				  
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		  354,777 	  383,117

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.		
		

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 20 March 2018 and signed on their behalf by:

___________________________: Director            	         ___________________________: Director

35

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017	
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(continued)



G UARDIA      N  M EDIA     L I M ITED     A N D  ITS    SU  B SIDIARIES       

		  2017	 2016
	Notes	 $	 $

Revenue	 16	  137,762 	  164,364 
				  
Income/(loss) from operating activities	 16	  (1,486)	  16,995 
				  
Finance costs	 17	     (707)	    (718)
				  
Income/(loss) before taxation		   (2,193)	  16,277 
				  
Taxation	 18	      (921)	 (10,018)
				  
Net income/(loss) for the year		  (3,114)	     6,259 
				  

Other comprehensive income/(loss):	
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified				  
to profit in subsequent periods:				  
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operation		  423 	  353 
				  
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified	 	 	
to profit in subsequent periods		  423 	  353 
				  
Other comprehensive losses not to be reclassified				  
to profit in subsequent periods:				  
Re–measurement (loss)/gain on defined benefit plans	 7	  (599)	  815 
Income tax effect		  180 	  (1,296)
				  
Other comprehensive losses not to be reclassified	 	 	 	
to profit in subsequent periods		  (419)	  (481)
				  
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 
for the year, net of tax		  4 	  (128)
				  
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, 
net of tax		  (3,110)	  6,131 
				  
Earnings/(loss) per share				  
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share	 24	 ($0.08)	 $0.15 
(Expressed in $ per share)			 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.	 			
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Year ended 31 December 2017

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.		
		

Balance at 1 January 2017	  27,288 	 (1,460)	 353 	  279,081 	 305,262 
Net loss for the year	  – 	 – 	 – 	 (3,114)	 (3,114)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)	  – 	  – 	 423	  (419)	 4 
Other transfers and movements	  – 	 – 	 – 	 23 	 23 
Dividends (Note 19)	             – 	 – 	 – 	 (24,057)	  (24,057)
							     
Balance at 31 December 2017	  27,288 	 (1,460)	 776 	 251,514  	  278,118 
							     
		
Year ended 31 December 2016						    
			 
Balance at 1 January 2016	  27,288 	 (1,460)	 – 	 296,220	  322,048 
Net income for the year	  – 	 – 	 – 	 6,259	  6,259 
Other comprehensive income/(loss)	  – 	 – 	  353	  (481)	  (128)
Other transfers and movements	  – 	 – 	 – 	 (57)	  (57)
Dividends (Note 19)	             – 	 – 	 – 	 (22,860)	  (22,860)
							     
Balance at 31 December 2016	  27,288 	  (1,460)	 353 	 279,081 	  305,262

		  Stated	 Treasury	 Other	 Retained	 Total
		  capital	 shares	 reserves	 earnings	 equity
		  $	 $	 $	 $	 $
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		  2017	 2016
	Notes	 $	 $

Cash flows from operating activities				  
Income/(loss) before taxation		  (2,193)	 16,277 
Adjustments to reconcile income before taxation to				  
net cash generated from operating activities:				  
Depreciation	 4 & 5	  12,493 	 13,262 
Amortisation	 6	  3,744 	 454 
Net change in employee benefits asset/obligation		  (736)	 (1,721)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment		  35	  (149)
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investment securities	 16	  –	  (114)
Interest income (net)		  (411)	 (474)
Other movements		  (182)	 101 
					   
Operating income before working capital changes		  12,750 	  27,636 
Decrease in inventories		  1,253 	 3,251 
Decrease in trade and other receivables		  7,287 	 12,829 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables		  (1,296)	 3,987 
					   
Cash generated from operations		  19,994 	 47,703 
	
Interest received		  714	  784 
Interest paid		  (229)	  (312)
Taxation paid		  (1,911)	  (6,148)
					   
Net cash generated from operating activities		  18,568 	 42,027 
					   
Cash flows from investing activities				  
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment		  – 	 308 
Purchase of investment securities		  (15,000)	 – 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	 4	  (5,214)	  (12,350)
Purchase of intangible assets	 6	  (1,154)	  (2,356)
					   
Net cash used in investing activities		  (21,368)	 (14,398)	
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		  2017	 2016
	Notes	 $	 $

Cash flows from financing activities				  
Proceeds from borrowings	 14	  345 	 701 
Repayment of borrowings	 14	  (784)	 (1,036)
Dividends paid	 19	  (24,057)	 (22,860)
					   

Net cash used in financing activities		  (24,496)	 (23,195)
					   
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents		  (27,296)	  4,434 
					   

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		  98,850 	 94,416
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 	 12	  71,554 	 98,850 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.		
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Incorporation and principal activities

Guardian Media Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in 1917 
and continued on 21 November 1997 under the Companies Act, 1995, in the Republic of Trin-
idad and Tobago. Effective 26 April 2010, the Company changed its name to Guardian Media 
Limited (formerly Trinidad Publishing Company Limited). The Company operates in Trinidad 
and Tobago and is a subsidiary of ANSA McAL Limited (the “Ultimate Parent”), which is a 
public company that owns 51% of the issued stated capital of the Company. The registered 
office of the Company is at 22-24 St. Vincent Street, Port of Spain. Guardian Media Limited is 
the parent company of Wonderland Entertainment Limited and iRadio Inc. The Company has 
a primary listing on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange.

Guardian Media Limited and its consolidated Subsidiaries (‘the Group’) consist of the parent 
company, Guardian Media Limited and its 100% owned subsidiaries, Wonderland Enter-
tainment Limited and iRadio Inc. The Group is the publisher of the Trinidad Guardian and 
the Sunday Guardian, and also provides printing services for other publishers. The Group 
purchased the operating assets and liabilities of Trinidad Broadcasting Company Limited 
and Prime Radio Limited on 1 May 1998 and acquired a 100% share of Wonderland Enter-
tainment Limited on 9 August 2011. On the 12 September 2014, the Group acquired a licence 
to operate the 99.5 F.M. radio frequency, which was approved by the Telecommunications 
Authority of Trinidad and Tobago (“TATT”). As a condition of the concession, the Group sur-
rendered the 730 A.M. frequency. On 24 August 2015 the Group acquired 100% of the issued 
share capital of iRadio Inc., a company registered and operating in the Republic of Guyana. 

The Group currently operates six (6) broadcasting stations, 95.1 F.M. The Best Mix, the Vibe 
CT105 F.M., Sangeet 106.1 F.M., Aakash Vani 106.5 F.M., SLAM 100.5 F.M. and Sky Radio 
99.5 FM in the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago and Mix 90.1 in the Republic of Guyana. The 
Group is also the operator of a television station, CNC3, whose inaugural feed began on 26 
September 2005. 

Wonderland Entertainment Limited is incorporated and resident in Trinidad and Tobago, and 
has no trading activities in 2017. Its main asset is the radio licence. iRadio Inc. is incorporated 
and resident in the Republic of Guyana and the results of its operations and related assets 
and liabilities have been fully consolidated as explained in Note 2 (ii).

1.
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Significant accounting policies	
		
i)   Basis of preparation	
		

These consolidated financial statements are expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago 
dollars (except when otherwise indicated) and have been prepared on a historical cost basis 
except for the measurement at fair value of certain financial assets measured at fair value 
through income.	
		
Statement of compliance
		
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB).	
		
Presentation of financial statements
		
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position if there is a currently enforceable legal right 
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. Income and expenses are not offset in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income unless required or permitted by any ac-
counting standard or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies 
of the Group.	
		
Current versus non-current classification
		
	The Group presents assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
based on current/non-current classification. An asset is current when it is:	

•	 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed  
in the normal operating cycle;

•	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
•	 	Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or

2.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
i)   Basis of preparation (continued)	
		

Current versus non-current classification (continued)
		
•	 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to 

settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
		
All other assets are classified as non-current.		
		
A liability is current when:
		
•	 It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;
•	 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
•	 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
•	 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for  

at least twelve months after the reporting period

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.	
	
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilties.

ii)   Basis of consolidation	
				  

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Guardian 
Media Limited and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.	

2.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
ii)   Basis of consolidation (continued)
	
	 Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:
	

•	 	Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the 
relevant activities of the investee);

•	 	Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
•	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power 
over an investee, including:	
	
•	 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
•	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
	
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolida-
tion of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control 
the subsidiary.
	
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to 
the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if 
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjust-
ments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, 
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group 
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
ii)   Basis of consolidation (continued)	
		

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, 
it:		

•	 Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
•	 Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;
•	 Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
•	 Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
•	 Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
•	 Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and 
•	 Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to 

profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the 
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

iii)   Changes in accounting policies and disclosures	
		

New and amended standards and interpretations
		
The Group applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. Except for Phase 
I of IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ (see Note 2 vii), the Group has not early adopted 
any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet 
effective.	
	
The nature and the effect of these changes are disclosed below. Although these 
new standards and amendments applied for the first time in 2017, they did not have 
a material impact on the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
The nature and the impact of each new standard or amendment is described 
below:	
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
iii)   Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)
	

	New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)

Amendments to IAS 7 – Effective 1 January 2017
		
The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows are part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative 
and require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to 
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising 
from cash flows and non-cash changes. On initial application of the amendment, entities 
are not required to provide comparative information for preceding periods. Application of 
amendments resulted in additional disclosure provided by the Group.

Amendments to IAS 12 – Effective 1 January 2017
		
The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources 
of taxable profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible 
temporary difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity 
should determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable 
profit may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount. Entities 
are required to apply the amendments retrospectively. However, on initial application of the 
amendments, the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may be 
recognised in opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, as appropriate), 
without allocating the change between opening retained earnings and other components 
of equity. Entities applying this relief must disclose that fact. These amendments have no 
impact on the Group.	
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
iii)   Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)
		

Standards issued but not yet effective
	
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date 
of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends 
to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.		
•	 Amendments to IFRS 2 – Classification and Measurement of Share-based Pay-

ment Transactions – Effective 1 January 2018
•	 Amendments to IFRS 4 – Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insur-

ance Contracts – Effective 1 January 2018
•	 IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’ – Effective 

1 January 2018
•	 Amendments to IAS 40 – Transfers of Investment Property – Effective 1 January 

2018
•	 Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2014 – 2016 cycle, resulting in amend-

ments to IFRS 1, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 – Effective 1 January 2018
•	 IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ – Effective 1 January 2019
•	 IFRIC 23, ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ – Effective 1 January 2019
•	 IFRS 17, ‘Insurance Contracts’ – Effective 1 January 2021
•	 Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture – effective on a date to be determined 
by the International Accounting Standards Board 

		
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’	
	
•	 Phase 1 – Classification and measurement of financial instruments

This phase was early adopted by the Group in its financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2011. The exemption given in the transitional provision for 
early application was applied and hence the Group did not restate comparative 
information in the year of application.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
iii)   Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)
	

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (continued)

	
•	 Phase 2 – Impairment

This phase will be implemented by the Group from 1 January 2018. The impairment 
requirements are based on an expected credit loss (ECL) model that replaces the IAS 
39 incurred loss model. The ECL model applies to financial assets accounted for at 
amortised cost or at FVOCI, including commitments and guarantees.

The Group has assessed that the application of IFRS 9 may result in earlier recognition 
of credit losses and is currently assessing the extent of the impact and the adjustment 
required.

•	 Phase 3 – Hedge accounting
The new hedging model may lead to more economic hedging strategies meeting the 
requirements for hedge accounting. At this time, the Group is not engaged in hedging 
strategies and therefore this phase has no impact on the Group.

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ is more prescriptive than the current 
IFRS requirements for revenue recognition and provides more application guidance. The 
disclosure requirements are also more extensive. Implementation of this standard required 
extensive work in reassessing accounting policies, systems and processes, the impact of 
which is currently being assessed. The Group has decided to apply the modified retrospective 
approach from 1 January 2018. Additional information on the new requirements of IFRS 15 
are further detailed below.	
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Significant accounting policies (continued))	
		
iii)   Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)
		

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (continued)

	IFRS 15 replaces all existing revenue requirements in IFRS (IAS 11, ‘Construction 
Contracts’, IAS 18, ‘Revenue’, IFRIC 13, ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’, IFRIC 15, 
‘Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’, IFRIC 18, ‘Transfers of Assets from 
Customers’ and SIC 31, ‘Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Ser-
vices’) and applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless the 
contracts are in the scope of other standards, such as IAS 17, ‘Leases’ (or IFRS 16, 
‘Leases’, once applied). Its requirements also provide a model for the recognition and 
measurement of gains and losses on disposal of certain non-financial assets, including 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.	
	
The standard outlines the principles an entity must apply to measure and recognise 
revenue. The core principle is that an entity will recognise revenue at an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring goods or services to a customer.

The principles in IFRS 15 must be applied using a five-step model:

1.	 Identify the contract(s) with a customer
2.	 Identify the performance obligations in the contract
3.	 Determine the transaction price
4.	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
5.	 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

The standard requires the Group to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all 
relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts 
with its customers. The standard also specifies how to account for the incremental costs 
of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract.	
	
Application guidance is provided in IFRS 15 to assist entities in applying its requirements 
to certain common arrangements, including licences of intellectual property, warranties, 
rights of return, principal-versus-agent considerations, options for additional goods or 
services and breakage.	
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
iv)   Property, plant and equipment
	

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and/or 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the 
property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if 
the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment 
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual 
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. All other repairs and 
maintenance costs are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.	
	
Depreciation is provided on the straight line basis at rates estimated to write-off the assets 
over their expected useful lives. The estimated useful lives of assets are reviewed periodically, 
taking account of commercial and technological obsolescence as well as normal wear and 
tear, and the depreciation rates are adjusted if appropriate. Land and capital work in progress 
are not depreciated.	
	
Depreciation is provided on the straight line basis at the following rates:-

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-
recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of asset) is included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the year the asset is derecognised.			 

2.

Freehold buildings	 2%

Plant, station equipment and machinery	 3.33% - 33%

Vehicles	 25%

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment	 10% - 25%
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
v)   Investment property
		

Investment properties principally comprise office buildings and land not occupied by the 
Group, which are held for long term rental yields and capital appreciation. Investment 
properties are classified as non-current assets and carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.	
	
Approximately 55% of the Group’s property on 22-24 St Vincent Street, Port-of-Spain is 
available for long-term rental yields. The Group occupies the remainder of space. That 
apportionment available for rental is classified as Investment Property.	
	
Building is depreciated on a straight line basis at a rate of 2% per annum. Land is not 
depreciated.	
	
Investment property is derecognised when they have either been disposed of or when 
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic 
benefits are expected. Any gain or loss arising on disposal is recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.	
	
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. 
If owner occupied property becomes investment property, the Group accounts for such 
property in accordance with the policy under property, plant and equipment up to the 
date of change in use.	
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
vi)   Business combinations and goodwill
	

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at 
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. 
For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative 
expenses.	
	
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities 
assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the 
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition 
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 
acquiree.	
	
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of 
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair 
value at the acquisition date through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.	
	
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair 
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent 
consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance 
with IFRS 9. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it should not be re-
measured until it is finally settled within equity.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
vi)   Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
	

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over 
the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net 
assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group 
re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the 
liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be 
recognised at the acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in an excess of the 
fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the 
gain is recognised in the profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses.  For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of 
whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within 
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is 
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss 
on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured 
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
vii)   Financial instruments
	

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial instruments carried on the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position include cash and cash equivalents, receivables, 
payables, investments and borrowings. The particular recognition methods adopted are 
disclosed in the individual policy statement associated with each item.	
	
IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement’	
	
In 2011, the Group applied IFRS 9 (as issued in November 2009 and revised in November 
2013) effective 1 January 2018 (phase 1) in advance of its effective date. 	
	
Amortised cost and effective interest method	
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost less impairment loss (except for debt instruments that are designated as at fair value 
through statement of income on initial recognition):	
	
•	 The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows; and
•	 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
	
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt 
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. 	
	
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life 
of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount 
on initial recognition.	
	
Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments measured 
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is recognised in Consolidated Statement 
of the Comprehensive Income and is included in the “Interest and investment income” line 
item (Note 16) within Other income.	
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
vii)   Financial instruments (continued)
	

At fair value through statement of income	
	
Investments in equity instruments are classified as at fair value through statement 
of income (FVSI), unless the Group designates an investment that is not held for 
trading as at fair value through statement of comprehensive income (FVSCI) on initial 
recognition.	
	
The Group carries financial assets at FVSI which are measured at fair value at the end of 
each reporting period, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in 
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. The net gain or loss recognised 
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income is included in the ‘Other 
income’ line item (Note 16). Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 
22. 	
	
Dividend income on investments in equity instruments at FVSI is recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income when the Group’s right to receive 
the dividends is established in accordance with IAS 18, ‘Revenue’ and is included in the 
net gains or losses described above.		
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
vii)   Financial instruments (continued)
	

Loans and receivables 	
	
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial 
assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method, less impairment. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included 
in finance income in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. The losses 
arising from impairment are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in finance costs for loans and in cost of sales or other operating expenses for 
receivables.	
	
De–recognition of financial assets	
	
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise 
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 
received.	
	
Impairment of financial assets	
	
The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows reflecting the amount 
of collateral and guarantee, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate.	
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
vii)   Financial instruments (continued)
	

Loans and receivables (continued)	 	
	
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly 
for all financial assets with the exception of receivables, where the carrying amount 
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is 
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.	
	
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at 
the date of the impairment assessment/reversal does not exceed what the amortised 
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.		
	
Financial liabilities	
	
Initial recognition and subsequent measurements	
	
Financial liabilities within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified as interest bearing debt and 
borrowings. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 
recognition.	
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vii)   Financial instruments (continued)
	

Financial liabilities (continued)	
	
Initial recognition and subsequent measurements (continued)	
	
Borrowings and interest bearing debt are initially recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received net of transaction costs incurred. After initial recognition, these 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any transaction cost, discount 
or premium on issue. Gains and losses are recognised in the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process.	
	
Borrowing cost directly attributable to acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use is capitalised 
as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing cost is expensed as they 
occur. Borrowing cost consist of interest and other cost the Group incurs in connection 
with borrowing of funds. Capitalisation ceases when the asset is substantially ready for its 
intended use. 	
	
De–recognition of financial liabilities	
	
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or has expired.	
	
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 
such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and 
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.	
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viii)   Employee benefits
	

The Group operates pension plans with defined contribution, defined benefit or hybrid 
schemes for all eligible full time employees of the Group. The pension plans are governed 
by the relevant trustee rules and are generally funded by payments from employees and 
by the relevant Group companies, taking account of the rules of the pension plans and 
recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.	
	
Defined contribution plans	
	
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to 
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees 
the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The Group has 
no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions 
are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.	
	
Defined benefit plans	
	
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. The 
pension accounting costs for the plans are assessed using the projected unit credit 
method. Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the 
asset ceiling, excluding net interest (not applicable to the Group) and the return on 
plan assets (excluding net interest), are recognised immediately in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained 
earnings through other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Re-
measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. The maximum 
economic benefits available, as limited by the asset ceiling will crystallise in the form of 
reductions in future contributions.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of:	
	
•	 The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and
•	 The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs		
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viii)   Employee benefits (continued)
	

Defined benefit plans (continued)	
	
Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability 
or asset. The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation 
within “Administrative and other distribution costs” (Note 16):	
	
•	 Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on 

curtailments and non-routine settlements; and
•	 Net interest expense or income.
	
Other post-employment benefit plans	
	
The Group also provides other post-employment benefits to their retirees. These benefits 
are unfunded. The entitlement to these benefits is based on the employee remaining in 
service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. The expected 
costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using an accounting 
methodology similar to that for the defined benefit plans.

ix)   Inventories
	

Inventory of newsprint, printing materials and machinery spares are valued at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method and 
includes relevant import and local charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.	
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x)   Trade and other receivables
	

Trade receivables, which generally have 30–90 day terms, are recognised and carried at 
original invoice amounts less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate 
for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad 
debts are written-off as incurred.

xi)   Cash and cash equivalents	

Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position comprise 
cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits readily convertible to cash. For the 
purpose of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents 
include all cash and short-term deposits with maturities of less than three months from 
date of establishment or which are readily convertible to cash.	
		

xii)   Foreign currency translation
	

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars 
(expressed in thousands), which is the Parent’s functional and presentation currency. 
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included 
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional 
currency.	
	
Foreign currency transactions	
	
Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the foreign currency at the rates of 
exchange prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Trinidad and Tobago Dollars at the 
rate of exchange ruling at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates that existed when 
the values were determined. Exchange differences on foreign currency transactions are 
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 	

2.

60

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017	
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(continued)



G UARDIA      N  M EDIA     L I M ITED     A N D  ITS    SU  B SIDIARIES       

Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
xii)   Foreign currency translation (continued)
	

Foreign currency transactions (continued)
	
Foreign entities	
	
On consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign entities are translated into Trinidad and 
Tobago dollars at the rate of exchange ruling at the financial reporting date and their 
Statements of Comprehensive Income are translated at the weighted average exchange 
rates for the year. The exchange differences arising on re-translation are recognised in 
other comprehensive income. On disposal of the foreign operation, the deferred cumulative 
amount recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

xiii)   Equity movements
	

Stated capital	
	
Ordinary stated capital is classified within equity and is recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received by the Group. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
new shares or options are shown as a reduction in equity, net of tax. As equity is repurchased, 
the amount of consideration paid is recognised as a charge to equity and reported in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as treasury shares.	
	
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when 
they are approved by the Group’s Board of Directors. Interim dividends are deducted from 
equity when they are paid. Dividends for the year that are approved after the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position date are dealt with as an event after the end of reporting 
date.	 	
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
xiii)   Equity movements (continued)
	

Treasury shares	
	
Own equity instruments which are re-acquired (“treasury shares”) are deducted from 
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity 
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration is 
recognised in other reserves. Such treasury shares are presented separately within 
equity and are stated at cost.	
	

xiv)   Employee share ownership plan (ESOP)
	

The Group operates an Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) whereby employees of the 
Group have the option to receive a percentage of their profit share bonuses in the form 
of ordinary shares of the Group. The Group recognises an expense within staff costs 
when bonuses are awarded. Shares acquired are funded by the Group contributions 
and the cost of the unallocated ESOP Shares is presented as a deduction in equity, 
separately disclosed as “treasury shares”.	
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xv)   Finance leases
	

Group as lessee
	
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental 
to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value 
of the leased asset, or if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease 
payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability 
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are charged directly against income. 	
	
A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no 
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the 
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease 
term.	
	
An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are 
recognised as an operating expense in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.	

xvi)   Trade and other payables
	

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable, which are normally settled on 30-90 day 
terms, are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future 
for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Group.	
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xvii)   Earnings per share	

	
The computation of earnings per share is calculated as the net income attributable 
to ordinary shareholders (net of preference shares), divided by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, net of treasury shares. The 
Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue.		
	

xviii)   Provisions
	

Provisions are required when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past 
event, where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.	
	
Restructuring provisions are recognised only when the Group has a constructive 
obligation, which is when a detailed formal plan identifies the business or part of the 
business concerned, the location and number of employees affected, a detailed estimate 
of the associated costs, and an appropriate timeline, and the employees affected have 
been notified of the plan’s main features.	
	
When the Group can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation to 
a specific matter and considers such outflows to be probable, the Group records a 
provision against the matter. Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the 
probability amount of losses, the Group takes into account a number of factors including 
legal advice, the stage of the matter and historical evidence from similar incidents. 
Significant judgment is required to conclude on these estimates.		
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xix)   Revenue recognition
	

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates and sale taxes.	
	
The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:
	
Sales of newspaper, advertising and job printing	
	
Revenue from the sale of advertising to third parties, including related parties, is recognised 
with the publication or broadcast of the advertisement and the amount of the revenue can 
be measured reliably. Income from newspaper circulation and job printing are recognised 
upon delivery of the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
	
Rental income	
	
Rental income arising under operating leases is accounted for on a straight line basis over 
the lease term.	
	
Interest income	
	
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues, unless collectability is in doubt.
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xx)   Taxation	

	
Current income tax	
	
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax 
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rate that is expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability 
is settled based on the enacted tax rate at the reporting date.	
	
Deferred income tax	
	
A deferred tax charge is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes at the reporting date.	
	
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit 
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and 
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax to be recovered.	
	
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside 
profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.			 
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
xxi)   Impairment of non–financial assets
	

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready for use are 
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject 
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in 
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are largely independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). Prior impairments 
of non-financial assets (other than goodwill) are reviewed for possible reversal at each 
reporting date.

xxii)   Fair value measurement
	

The Group measures certain financial assets at fair value at each year end. Also, fair 
values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 22. Fair 
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer 
the liability takes place either:	
	
•	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
•	 	In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 

liability
	
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.
	
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants 
act in their economic best interest. 		
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
xxii)   Fair value measurement (continued)
	

A fair value measurement of a non–financial asset takes into account a market 
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use.	
	
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.	
	
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated 
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole:	
	
•	 Level 1  – 	 Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active  

	 markets for identical assets or liabilities

•	 Level 2 – 	 Valuation techniques for which the lowest  
	 level input that is significant to fair value  
	 measurement is directly or indirectly observable

•	 Level 3 – 	 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level 
	 input that is significa nt to the fair value measurement  
	 is unobservable
	
See Note 22 for further details on the valuation techniques and inputs used to account 
for financial instruments measured at fair value.	
	
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements 
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between 
Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting 
period. 	
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
xxii)   Fair value measurement (continued)
	

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above.

xxiii)   Intangible assets
	

Goodwill	
	
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the 
consideration transferred over the Group’s interest in net fair value of the net identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree.	
	
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
allocated to each of the cash-generating units (CGUs), or groups of CGUs, that is expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the 
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill 
is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating 
segment level.	
	
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is 
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value 
less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not 
subsequently reversed.	
	
Licences	
	
Separately, licences are shown at historical cost. Licences acquired in a business combination 
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Licences have an indefinite useful life 
and impairment tests are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate a potential impairment.				  
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
xxiii)   Intangible assets (continued)
	

Broadcast rights 	
	
The Group has elected to classify broadcast rights as intangible assets. Control is 
obtained over the intangible asset, and therefore the asset is recognised, at the point at 
which:		
	
•	 The underlying resource is sufficiently developed to be identifiable;
•	 The Company has legal, exclusive rights to broadcast;
•	 There is a penalty for non-delivery of content;
•	 It is probable that the event will occur or the content delivered; and
•	 It is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Company.
	
Broadcast rights are recognised at historical cost, net of accumulated amortisation. 
Broadcast rights are amortised over their estimated useful lives in a method that 
matches the amortisation expense with the revenues expected to be generated. The 
relevant amortisation expense is recognised within “Administrative costs” (Note 16) in 
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.	
	
Computer software	
	
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an 
expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design 
and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group are 
recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

•	 It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be 
available for use;

•	 Management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;
•	 There is an ability to use or sell the software product;
•	 It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable  

future economic benefits;
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Significant accounting policies (continued)	
		
xxiii)   Intangible assets (continued)
	

Computer software (continued)	
	
•	 Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to 

use or sell the software product are available; and

•	 The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be 
reliably measured.

	
Directly attributable costs capitalised as part of the software product include the 
software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads.	
	
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an 
expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not 
recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.	
	
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their 
estimated useful lives, which do not exceed seven years.

xxiv)   Deferred programming
 	

Deferred programming, which represents programming contracted but not yet 
broadcasted, is presented within trade and other receivables and is measured at cost less 
amortisation. The costs of programmes are expensed as they are broadcasted.

xxv)   Segment reporting 
 	

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, 
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors that makes strategic decisions.	
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Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS necessitates the use 
of estimates, assumptions and judgments. These estimates and assumptions affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities at year end as well as 
affecting the reported income and expenses for the year.		
		
Although the estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgment of 
current facts as at year end, the actual outcome may differ from these estimates, possibly 
significantly.		
		
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at year end, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed 
below:		
		
Provision for doubtful debts		
		
Management exercises judgment in determining the adequacy of provisions established 
for accounts receivable balances for which collections are considered doubtful. 
Judgment is used in the assessment of the extent of the recoverability of certain 
balances. Actual outcomes may be materially different from the provision established by 
management.		
		
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives

The Group determines whether goodwill or other intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives are impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the ‘value in 
use’ of the cash generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating a value in 
use amount requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows 
from the cash generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate the present value of those cash flows.		
		
Property, plant and equipment		
		
Management exercises judgement in determining whether costs incurred can accrue 
sufficient future economic benefits to the Group to enable the value to be treated as a 
capital expense. Further judgement is used upon annual review of the residual values and 
useful lives of all capital items to determine any necessary adjustments to carrying value. 
The accounting policy related to property, plant and equipment is disclosed in Note 2 (iv).	
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017	

Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (continued)	
	
Impairment of financial assets		
		
Management makes judgments at each Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date to 
determine whether financial assets are impaired when the carrying value is greater than the 
recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of impairment. The recoverable amount is 
the present value of the future cash flows.		
		
Deferred taxes		
		
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant 
management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised, based upon the timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future 
tax planning strategies.		
		
Pension and other post–employment benefits		
		
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment medical benefits is 
determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions 
about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality 
rates and future pension increases. Due to the long term nature of these plans, such 
estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. Further details are given in Note 7.	
		
Libel		
		
In the course of normal business operation, writs were filed against the Group for libel. 
Estimates included are based on professional advice received and management has 
established provisions to cover contingencies of this nature. 			 
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Year ended 31 December 2017

Cost	  32,596 	  160,605 	  6,509 	  21,921 	  9,084 	  230,715 
Accumulated depreciation	  (11,953)	  (86,864)	  (5,266)	  (15,901)	               – 	  (119,984)
						    
Net book value	  20,643 	  73,741 	  1,243 	  6,020 	  9,084 	  110,731 
						    
1 January 2017	  21,352 	  75,770 	  1,326 	  7,698 	  11,886 	  118,032 
Additions	  – 	  283 	  345 	  213 	  4,373 	  5,214 
Transfers from WIP	  – 	  6,514 	  – 	  278 	  (6,792)	  – 
Transfers to Intangible assets	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  (383)	  (383)
Disposals and other movements	  21 	  13 	  – 	  (7)	  – 	  27 
Depreciation charge 	  (730)	  (8,839)	  (428)	  (2,162)	               – 	  (12,159)
						    
31 December 2017	  20,643 	  73,741 	  1,243 	  6,020 	  9,084 	  110,731 

	 	 	 Plant	 	 Office
		  Land and	 machinery &	 Motor	 furniture &	 Capital	
		  buildings	 equipment	 vehicles	 equipment	W IP	 Total		
		  $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $

Property, plant and equipment4.

74

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017	
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(continued)



G UARDIA      N  M EDIA     L I M ITED     A N D  ITS    SU  B SIDIARIES       

Year ended 31 December 2016 

The carrying value of assets held under finance lease arrangements amounted to $1.5 million 
(2016: $1.3 million) at year end and is presented under the Motor vehicles category of property, 
plant and equipment.

Cost	  32,601 	  153,838 	  6,164 	  21,511 	  11,886 	  226,000 
Accumulated depreciation	  (11,249)	  (78,068)	  (4,838)	  (13,813)	            – 	  (107,968)
						    
Net book value	  21,352 	  75,770 	  1,326 	  7,698 	  11,886 	  118,032 
						    
1 January 2016	  22,262 	  78,118 	  1,528 	  8,957 	  11,129 	  121,994 
Additions	  328 	  605 	  556 	  519 	  10,342 	  12,350 
Transfers from WIP	  357 	  5,955 	  – 	  715 	  (7,027)	  – 
Transfers to Investment property	  (1,043)	  – 	  – 	  – 	  – 	  (1,043)
Disposals and other movements	  218 	  95 	  (159)	  87 	  (2,558)	  (2,317)
Depreciation charge 	  (770)	  (9,003)	  (599)	  (2,580)	            – 	  (12,952)
						    
31 December 2016	  21,352 	  75,770 	  1,326 	  7,698 	  11,886 	  118,032 

	 	 	 Plant	 	 Office
		  Land and	 machinery &	 Motor	 furniture &	 Capital	
		  buildings	 equipment	 vehicles	 equipment	W IP	 Total		
		  $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $

Property, plant and equipment (continued)	4.
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Investment property5. 			   2017	 2016
			   $	 $

			   2017	 2016
			   $	 $

Balance at 1 January	 3,831 	  2,780 
Transfers from WIP	  – 	  318 
Reclassification from property, plant and equipment – cost 	  – 	  3,519 
Accumulated depreciation on amounts re-classified	  – 	  (2,476)
Depreciation for the year	  (334)	  (310)
				  
Balance at 31 December	  3,497 	  3,831 
				  
Investment property at cost	  13,220 	  13,220 
Accumulated depreciation	  (9,723)	  (9,389)
				  
Net carrying amount	  3,497 	  3,831 

Rental income	 1,675 	  1,133 
				  
Direct operating expenses	 234 	  340 

Amounts included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year:

The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no 
contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for 
repairs, maintenance and enhancements.				  
				  
The Group has 55% of space available for rental at its property on 22-24 St. Vincent 
Street, Port of Spain (2016: 55%), which has been classified as Investment property.
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Intangible assets6.
Cost
At 1 January 2016	  13,014	  3,374 	  1,605 	  17,993 
Additions	  2,356	  – 	  – 	  2,356 
Transfers from WIP	            – 	            – 	  2,030 	  2,030 
				  
At 31 December 2016	  15,370	  3,374 	  3,635 	  22,379 
Additions	  1,154	  – 	  – 	  1,154 
Transfers from WIP	            – 	            – 	  383 	  383 
				  
At 31 December 2017	  16,524	  3,374 	  4,018 	  23,916 
				  
Amortisation and impairment				  
				  
At 1 January 2016	  169	  – 	  916 	  1,085 
				  
Amortisation charge for the year	  30	            – 	  424 	  454 
				  
At 31 December 2016	  199 	  – 	  1,340 	  1,539 
				  
Amortisation charge for the year 	  3,127 	            – 	  617 	  3,744 
				  
At 31 December 2017	  3,326 	            – 	  1,957 	  5,283 
				  
Net carrying amount:				  
				  
At 31 December 2016	  15,171 	  3,374 	  2,295 	  20,840 
				  
At 31 December 2017 -non current	  11,899 	  3,374 	  2,061 	  17,334 

At 31 December 2017 - current	  1,299 	            – 	            – 	  1,299 
	  	
		  13,198 	  3,374 	  2,061 	  18,633 

		  Licences	 Goodwill	 Software	 Total
		  $	 $	 $	 $
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Intangible assets (continued) 

Licences				  
				  
Licences include two (2) radio broadcast licences with indefinite useful lives and also the 
broadcast rights for the 2018 World Cup that will expire by 31 December 2018.	
			 
World Cup Media Rights				  
				  
The Company acquired a sub-licence that provides media rights for the television, radio 
and broadband broadcast of FIFA’s events within Trinidad and Tobago for the period 1 
May 2015 to 31 December 2018. Rights were obtained for a total of fourteen (14) events 
including the FIFA 2018 World Cup. These rights are amortised on a basis consistent with 
the revenues expected to be generated. 				  
				  
The current portion of $1.299 million relates to the value of the broadcast rights as at 31 
December 2017,  which will expire by 31 December 2018.				  
				  
Radio Broadcast Licences				  
				  
One radio broadcast licence was acquired through a business combination with Wonderland 
Entertainment Limited on 9 August 2011 at a cost of $6.099 million and the other radio 
broadcast licence was acquired on 12 September 2014 at a cost of $5.8 million to operate 
the 99.5FM broadcast frequency. The licences have been granted for a minimum of 10 
years by the relevant government agency with the option to renew at the end of the period 
at little or no cost to the Group. Previous licences acquired have been renewed which has 
allowed the Group to determine that these assets have indefinite useful lives.				 
				  
As at 31 December 2017, these assets were tested for impairment and based on the results 
of the tests no impairment was recorded.				  
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Intangible assets (continued) 

Goodwill				  
				  
In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill arising from the acquisition of the Trinidad Broadcasting 
Company Limited and Prime Radio Limited in 1998 was reviewed for impairment at year end. 
Based on the results of this review no impairment expense was recorded.								 

Impairment testing				  
				  
The following highlights the information used in the impairment testing of goodwill and licences 
with indefinite useful lives:

	 Basis for recoverable amount 	 Value in use
	 Discount rate	 15%			 
	 Cash flow projection term	 Five years and into perpetuity
	 Growth rate (extrapolation period)	 1%	
			 
The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit was determined using the “value in 
use” method. These calculations use pre-tax cash-flow projections based on financial 
budgets approved by management. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect the 
specific risk relating to the cash-generating unit.	
	
The carrying amounts of goodwill and licences with indefinite useful lives are allocated to the 
following CGUs, for impairment testing. These CGUs are part of the “Multi-Media” reporting 
segment disclosed in Note 20.

6.

		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
		  $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $

	 Goodwill	 3,374	 3,374	 –	 –	 –	 –	 3,374	 3,374
	 Radio broadcast
	 licences	 –	 –	 5,800	 5,800	 6,099	 6,099	 11,899	 11,899

TBC Network SKY 99.5FM SLAM 100.5FM Total
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Intangible assets (continued) 

Impairment testing (continued)				  
				  
The recoverable amounts used in the impairment testing of the TBC Network, SKY 
99.5FM and SLAM 100.5 FM CGUs were $56.2 million, $8.75 million and $19.4 million 
respectively.								   

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations 
and sensitivity to changes in assumptions								   				

The calculation of value in use for the TBC Network, SKY 99.5FM and SLAM 100.5FM units 
is most sensitive to the following assumptions:										  

	
•	 Gross margin
•	 Discount rates
•	 Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the forecast period

Gross margin	 							   
								     
Estimated revenue, which is a key element of the estimated gross margins, is based on the 
implementation of a new sales strategy in alignment with current market developments. 
Decreased advertising demand can lead to a decline in the revenue generated and, 
consequently, the gross margin, which may impact the value in use calculation of the CGUs 
and the results of the impairment test.									   
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Intangible assets (continued) 

Impairment testing (continued)				  
				  
Discount rates		
			 
Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each CGU, 
taking into consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets 
that have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is 
based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its operating divisions and is derived 
from its weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both cost 
of debt and cost of equity. Specific industry risk is incorporated by applying individual beta 
factors. Adjustments to the discount rate are made to factor in the specific amount and timing 
of the future tax flows in order to reflect a pre-tax discount rate. A rise in the discount rate may 
impact the value in use calculation of the CGUs and the results of the impairment test.

Growth rates		

Rates are based on industry research. This rate is used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the 
forecast period. For each of the CGUs, a decrease in the long-term growth rate may impact the 
value in use calculation of the CGUs and the results of the impairment test.

Computer software		

Intangible assets also include the internal development cost arising from the implementation 
of Microsoft Great Plains in July 2013 and NEO Content Management System for Media in 
December 2016 which were recognised at fair value at the capitalisation date. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, computer software is carried at cost less amortisation and impairment losses 
where necessary, and is expected to have a finite life not exceeding 7 years.	
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Employee benefits 

The Group operates pension plans with defined contribution, defined benefit or hybrid 
schemes for all eligible full time employees of the Group. The Group also provides certain 
post-retirement medical benefits to employees. These Plans are governed by the deeds 
and rules of the specific plan and the employment laws relevant to the jurisdictions in 
which they operate.				  
				  
Contributions recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income with 
respect to defined contribution plans are as follows:

														    
	

The level of pension benefits provided under the defined benefit plans depends on the 
member’s length of service and salary at retirement age. The defined benefit pension 
plan requires contributions to be made to a separately administered fund. The Fund has 
a separate legal form and is governed by the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees is 
responsible for the administration of the plan assets and for the definition of the investment 
strategy.				  
				  
The Board of Trustees periodically reviews the level of funding in the pension plan. Such 
a review includes the asset-liability matching strategy and investment risk management 
policy which considers the term of the pension obligation while simultaneously remaining 
compliant with the requirements of the Pension Act. The pension plans are exposed to 
inflation, interest rate risks and changes in the life expectancy for pensioners in the relevant 
jurisdictions. As the Plan assets include significant investments in quoted equity shares, 
the Group is also exposed to equity market risk.													  

7.

		  2017	 2016
		  $	 $

Contribution expense	 894 	  846

		  2017	 2016
		  $	 $

Employee benefits asset	 89,306 	  88,451 
				  
Employee benefits obligation	 4,396 	  3,678 
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Employee benefits  (continued) 

2017 changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets: 

7.

Defined 
benefit 

obligation
$

Net
benefit 
asset

$

Fair value
of plan 
assets

$

Employee 
benefit 

obligation
$

Balance at 1 January 2017	  106,546 	 (194,997)	  (88,451)	  3,678 
				  
Pension cost charged 				  
to profit or loss				  
Current service cost	  4,317 	  – 	  4,317 	  105 
Past service cost	  – 	  – 	  499 	  – 
Administrative expenses	  – 	  155 	  155 	  – 
Net interest	  5,929 	  (9,761)	  (4,331)	  182 
				  
Sub–total included in 
profit or loss	  10,246 	  (9,606)	  640 	  287 
				  
Re–measurement 
gains/(losses) in OCI				  
Experience adjustments	  (1,532)	  1,507 	  (25)	  624 
Transfers	  1,487 	  (1,487)	  – 	  – 
				  
Sub–total included in OCI	  (45)	  20 	  (25)	  624 
				  
Other movements				  
Contributions by employee	  1,470	  (1,470)	  – 	  – 
Contributions by employer	  – 	  (1,470)	  (1,470)	  – 
Benefits paid	  (5,150)	  5,150 	  – 	  (193)
				  
Sub–total – other movements	  (3,680)	  2,210 	  (1,470)	  (193)
				  
Balance at 31 December 2017	  113,067	 (202,373)	  (89,306)	  4,396 
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Employee benefits  (continued) 

2016 changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets: 

7.

Defined 
benefit 

obligation
$

Net
benefit 
asset

$

Fair value
of plan 
assets

$

Employee 
benefit 

obligation
$

Balance at 1 January 2016	   100,634 	 (187,363)	  (86,729)	  4,493  
				  
Pension cost charged 				  
to profit or loss				  
Current service cost	   3,679 	  – 	  3,679 	  104  
Administrative expenses	  – 	  205 	  205	 –  
Net interest	   5,075 	  (9,347)	  (4,272)	  224  
				  
Sub–total included in 
profit or loss	   8,754 	  (9,142)	  (388)	  328  
				  
Re–measurement 
gains/(losses) in OCI				  
Experience adjustments	   (886)	  1,078 	  192 	  (1,007) 

Sub–total included in OCI	  (886)	  1,078 	  192 	  (1,007) 
				  
Other movements				  
Contributions by employee	   1,526 	  (1,526)	  – 	  –  
Contributions by employer	   – 	  (1,526)	  (1,526)	  –  
Benefits paid	   (3,482)	  3,482 	            – 	  (136)
				  
Sub–total – other movements	   (1,956)	  430 	  (1,526)	  (136)
				  
Balance at 31 December 2016	   106,546 	 (194,997)	  (88,451)	  3,678  
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Employee benefits  (continued) 

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage 
of the fair value of total plan assets are as follows:							  

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:							  

Shown below is a quantitative sensitivity analysis for the impact of significant assumptions on 
the defined benefit obligation:							   

7.

2017

2017

2016

2016

Local equities – quoted	 32%	 33%
Local bonds	 40%	 37%
Foreign investments	 21%	 15%
Real estate and mortgages	 2%	 2%
Short term securities	 5% 	 13%

Discount rate at 31 December	 5%	 5%
Future salary increases	 3% 	 3%
Future medical claims inflation	 3%	 3%

Discount rate	 Future salary 
increases

Future medical
claims inflationary 

increases
Assumptions

Sensitivity level	 1%	 1%	 1%	 1% 	 1% 	 1% 
		  increase	 decrease	 increase	 decrease	 increase	 decrease
							     
At 31 December 2017	 (13,713)	  17,246 	  4,737 	  (4,180)	  443 	 (360)
							     
At 31 December 2016	 (13,605)	  17,261 	  4,143 	  (3,763)	  600 	  (490)
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Employee benefits  (continued) 

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the 
impact on net defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions 
occurring at the end of the reporting period.				  
				  
The pension plan is maintained at a significant surplus; the Group has chosen not to take 
any contribution holidays to ensure the continued health of the Plan in changing economic 
circumstances. The Group’s contribution rate of 4% of pensionable salaries will continue into 
the foreseeable future.				  
				  
The Group is expected to contribute $1.5 million to its defined benefit plans and $0.2 million to 
its post-employment benefit plans in 2018.				  
				  
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting 
period is 15 years (2016: 15 years) for the defined benefit plan and 14 years (2016: 14 years) for 
the post-retirement medical plan.

Deferred taxation 

7.

8.

2016
$

(Credit)/ 
charge to 

OCI
$

(Credit)/ 
charge to 
income

$
2017 

$

Deferred tax asset				  
Employee benefits obligation	  (1,093)	  (39)	  (187)	  (1,319)
Tax loss	  – 	  (1,443)	  – 	  (1,443)
Provisions	  (854)	  854 	  – 	  – 
	  	 (1,947)	  (628)	  (187)	  (2,762)

Deferred tax liabilities				  
Property, plant and 
equipment/Investment property	  6,060 	  190 	  – 	  6,250 
Finance leases	  11,104 	  (510)	  – 	  10,594 
Employee benefits asset	  26,270 	  514 	  7 	  26,791 
	  	 43,434 	  194 	  7 	  43,635 
				  
Net deferred tax credit		   (434)	  (180)	
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2015
$

(Credit)/ 
charge to 

OCI
$

(Credit)/ 
charge to 
income

$
2016

$

Deferred tax asset				  
Employee benefits obligation	  (1,123)	  (182)	  212 	  (1,093)
Provisions	            – 	  (854)	         – 	  (854)
	  	 (1,123)	  (1,036)	  212 	  (1,947)
				  
Deferred tax liabilities				  
Property, plant and 
equipment/Investment property	  4,902 	  1,158 	  – 	  6,060 
Finance leases	  9,913 	  1,191 	  – 	  11,104 
Employee benefits asset	  21,682 	  3,504 	  1,084 	  26,270 
	  	 36,497 	  5,853 	  1,084 	  43,434 
				  
Net deferred tax charge		   4,817 	  1,296 	

Deferred taxation (continued) 

The Group has unutilised tax losses of $4.99 million (2016: Nil) available to be carried forward 
and applied against future taxable income of the Group.				  
				  
The Group has incurred tax losses either in the current or prior year, yet recognised deferred 
tax assets of $1.4 million (2016: Nil) on all of their total taxation losses. The recoverability of 
these deferred tax assets depends on the Group’s ability to generate future taxable profits. 
The Group believes that these deferred tax assets are recoverable because these losses are 
expected to shelter taxable profits in the foreseeable future.				 

8.
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Inventories 9.

During the year, $144 thousand of inventory previously deemed obsolete, was consumed. 
This amount of income (2016: $901 thousand expense), is included in Administrative costs.

2017
$

2016
$

Raw materials	  5,012 	  6,656 
Machinery spares	  2,089 	  2,919 
Goods in transit	  457 	  610 
		  7,558 	  10,185 
Less: provision for obsolescence	  (1,143)	  (2,517)
				  
		  6,415 	  7,668 
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Total

Past due but  
not impaired
30 – 90 daysCurrent > 90 days

2017 	 28,237	 11,596	 10,295	 6,346
				  
2016 	 34,484	 12,307	 13,333	 8,844

Trade and other receivables

As at 31 December the aging analysis of trade debtors is as follows:

As at 31 December 2017, trade and other receivables at nominal value of $9.113 million (2016: 
$8.018 million) were impaired and fully provided. Movements in the provision for impairment of 
receivables were as follows:				  

10. 2017
$

2017
$

2016
$

2016
$

Trade receivables	  37,170 	  41,913 
Less: provision for doubtful debts	  (8,933)	  (7,429)
		  28,237 	  34,484
 
Other receivables	  2,278 	  2,557 
Less: provision for doubtful debts	  (180)	  (589)
		  2,098 	  1,968 
Amount due from Related Parties  
companies (Note 21)	 1,776 	  2,542 
		  32,111 	  38,994 

Balance at 1 January	  8,018 	  7,822 
Charge for the year	  1,475 	  196 
Amounts written off during the year	  (380)	  – 
Balance at 31 December	  9,113 	  8,018 
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Investment securities

Cash and short–term deposits

11.

12.

The fair value of quoted ordinary shares is determined by reference to published price quotations 
in an active trading market.					   

Money market fund					   
					   
This represents a holding in the Unit Trust Corporation TT dollar Income Fund. The Fund earns 
interest at a rate of 0.9% per annum at year-end (2016: 0.9%).					 
					   
Fixed deposits					   

An amount of $5.9 million (2016: $10.6 million) was held in US dollar denominated fixed 
deposit instruments ranging with maturities from 2.64 years to 2.83 years, with fixed interest 
rates ranging from 1% to 1.15% per annum. 				  
					   
An amount of $37.1 million (2016: $53.1 million) was held in TT dollar denominated fixed 
deposit instruments ranging with maturities from 1 to 2 years with fixed interest rates ranging 
from 2% to 2.25% per annum.				  

i)

ii)

Cash at bank and on hand	 28,502	 35,079
Money Market Fund	 13	 13
Fixed deposits	  43,039 	  63,758 
		  71,554 	  98,850 

2017
Cost

$

2016
Cost

$

2017
Market
value

$

2016
Market
value

$

Investments at fair value 
through statement of income					   
Quoted shares	 4,011	 658	 4,011	 658

Investments at amortised cost 
Treasury note	 15,000 	  15,000 	            –	            –
		   19,011 	  15,658 	  4,011 	  658  
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Cash and short–term deposits (continued)

Stated capital, treasury shares and other reserves

The Company is authorised to issue an unlimited number of ordinary shares of no par value.

Fixed deposits (continued)
					   
The fixed deposits were invested with a fellow subsidiary (ANSA Merchant Bank Limited) in the 
ANSA McAL Limited Group of Companies. These fixed deposits are treated as cash and cash 
equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as the deposits are readily convertible 
to cash at any point prior to maturity.			 

12.

13.
2017

$
2016

$
29,297 6% cumulative participating preference	 1,465	 1,465
40,000,000 ordinary shares of no par value	 25,823	 25,823
		  27,288	 27,288

a) Issued and fully paid
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Stated capital, treasury shares and other reserves (continued)

Borrowings

13.

14.
Maturity of borrowings:					   

Treasury shares
					   
As detailed in Note 2 (xiv), the Group operates an Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) 
in which shares purchased by the Plan are held in Trust. The cost of these unallocated 
ESOP shares are accounted for and disclosed within equity as treasury shares. The number 
and value of own equity shares (treasury shares) held by the Group are as follows:

Other reserve

a)

b)

Borrowings relate to finance leases in respect of leased motor vehicles.

2017

2017
$

2017
$

2016

2016
$

2016
$

Number of shares (000’s)	  100 	  100 
Carrying value of shares ($’000s)	  1,460 	  1,460 
The market value of treasury shares ($’000s)	  1,798 	  1,899 

Foreign currency reserve				  
Balance as at 1 January	 353	 –
Currency translation	  423 	  353	
Balance as at 31 December	  776 	  353 

Amounts payable:					  
Within one year	 455	 802
After one year but less than five years	  1,082 	  1,174 
		  1,537	 1,976
Current portion	  (455)	  (802)
Non–current portion	  1,082 	  1,174 
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Borrowings (continued)

The present value of the future minimum lease payments under these finance 
leases are as follows:					  

The future minimum lease payments under these finance leases are as follows:

These leases are paid via monthly instalments over a period of five years and bear interest at 
rates ranging from 6% to 8% per annum (2016: 6% to 8%) and are secured against the leased 
motor vehicles to which they relate.

Finance lease obligations:

14.

2017
$

2017
$

2017
$

2016
$

2016
$

2016
$

Balance brought forward	 1,976	 2,311
Borrowings	 345	 701
Repayments	  (784)	  (1,036)
					   
Balance carried forward	 1,537	 1,976
Amounts due within one (1) year	  (455)	  (802)
					   
Amount due after one (1) year	  1,082 	  1,174 

Due within one year	 455	 802
Due within 2–5 years	  1,082 	  1,174 
		   1,537 	  1,976

Due within one year	 623	 1,034
Due within 2–5 years	   1,288  	   1,413 
		    1,911 	  2,447 
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Trade and other payables

Revenue and income from operating activities 

15.

16.

In the normal course of business operations, writs were filed against the Group for libel, 
some of which remained outstanding at the year-end. Based on professional advice 
received, management has established provisions of $0.353 million (2016: $0.27 million) 
to cover potential liabilities of this nature.  					  

2017
$

2017
$

2016
$

2016
$

Trade creditors	 2,045	 2,696
Other creditors and accruals	 20,012	 20,145
VAT payable	 1,374	 1,131
Amounts due to group companies (Note 21)	  3,660 	  4,415 
		   27,091	  28,387 

Advertising income	  120,323 	 144,555 
Circulation income	  11,604 	  15,726 
Printing and other income	  5,835 	  4,083 
					   
Total revenue	  137,762 	 164,364 
Cost of sales	  (68,473)	  (77,820)
					   
Gross profit	  69,289 	  86,544 
Administrative costs	  (51,327)	  (48,384)
Distribution costs	  (24,207)	  (25,839)
Other income (See below)	  4,759 	  4,674 
					   
Income from operating activities	  (1,486)	  16,995 
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Revenue and income from operating activities (continued)

Depreciation expense charged to cost of sales for the year amounted to $8.8 million 
(2016: $8.9 million).					   
					   
Severance costs incurred during the year amounting to $2.1 million (2016: $2.7 million) 
are presented within cost of sales and administrative and other distribution costs.	
				  
					   
Staff cost included in cost of sales amount to $35.3 million (2016: $42.8 million).

16.
2017

$

2017
$

Components of other income:

Administrative and other distribution costs	
included above:	

2016
$

2016
$

Rental income	  2,420 	  1,916 
Interest and investment income	  1,118 	  1,189 
Gain on foreign exchange	  346 	  807 
Other income	  670 	  543 
Dividend income	  205 	  263 
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investment securities	 –	  114 
Loss on revaluation of mutual funds	  – 	  (158)
					   
		   4,759 	  4,674

Salaries and wages	  38,826 	  38,045 
Depreciation and amortisation	  4,255 	  4,725 
Directors’ fees	  983 	  626 
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Finance costs

Taxation

17.

18.

Based on the Budget Presentation on 2 October 2017, the Minister of Finance of the 
Government of Trinidad and Tobago announced a change in corporation tax rate from 
30% for Companies, on incremental chargeable income in excess of $1 million, to 30% 
on all taxable income. The change was enacted by the Parliament of Trinidad and Tobago 
and was subsequently assented to on 19 December 2017. This change in tax rate is 
effective from 1 January 2018. 				  

2017
$

2017
$

2016
$

2016
$

Interest on borrowings	  227 	  304 
Other interest and finance costs	  480 	  414 		
		   707 	  718 

Taxation expense 	 – Current year	 –	  4,420 
		  – Prior year	  14 	  243 
Green fund levy	  	 450 	  538 
Business levy		   891 	 –
Deferred taxation		   (434)	  4,817 
			   921 	  10,018 
Reconciliation of tax expense and product of 
accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate:				  
Income/(loss) before taxation	  (2,193)	  16,277 
				  
Income taxes calculated at statutory rates 
of all jurisdictions		   (643)	  4,069 
Tax exempt income		   (179)	  (428)
Non allowable expenses and other deductions	  296 	  31 
Impact of change in taxation rate (see below)	 –	  5,565 
Prior year under accrual	  14 	  243 
Green fund levy		   450 	  538 
Business levy		   891 	 –
Other permanent differences	  92 	            – 
			    921 	  10,018 

a)

b)
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Dividends

During the year ended 31 December 2017, dividends of 60 cents (2016: 57 cents) per 
ordinary share (amounting to $23.94 million) plus 8% on preference shares (amounting 
to $117 thousand) were declared and paid.
 
In addition, a final dividend of 50 cents (2016: 50 cents) per ordinary share in respect of 
2017 has been proposed by the Directors subsequent to the year end. In accordance with 
the IAS 10 “Events after the reporting period”, this proposed dividend is not recognised 
as a liability at 31 December 2017 but will be accounted for as an appropriation of 
retained earnings in the year ending 31 December 2018.					  

19.
2017

$
2016

$
6% cumulative participating preference shares			 
	 – 	 final 2016	 –	 4% (2015: 4%)	 58	 58
	 –	 interim 2017	 –	 4% (2016: 4%)	 59	 59
Ordinary shares			 
	 –	 final 2016 	 – 	 50¢ (2015: 47¢)	 19,950	 18,753
	 –	 interim 2017	 – 	 10¢ (2016: 10¢)	  3,990 	  3,990 
			 
		   			   24,057 	  22,860 
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No revenue from a single external customer or counterparty amounted to 10% or more 
of the Group’s total revenue in 2017 or 2016. 						  

		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
		  $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $

Revenue	 67,569	 82,053	 70,193	 82,311	 137,762	 164,364
						    
Income/(loss)						    
before taxation	 (4,885)	 (373)	 2,692	 16,650	 (2,193)	 16,277
						    
Assets		  194,437	205,951	 160,340	 177,166	 354,777	 383,117
						    
Liabilities	 37,633	 40,207	 39,026	 37,648	 76,659	 77,855
						    
Depreciation and
amortization	 7,189	 7,851	 9,048	 5,865	 16,237	 13,716

Capital
expenditure	 2,339	 6,890	 2,875	 5,460	 5,214	 12,350

Print
Multi–media

segment Total

Segment information

For management purposes, the Group’s segments are organised and managed separately 
according to the nature of these services provided by each segment. The reportable 
segments are the Print and Multi-Media segments.			 
						    
The Print segment is mainly involved in newspaper circulation and other printing services 
for other publishers. The Multi-Media segment provides broadcasting services through its 
seven (7) radio stations as well as the live television station.	

20.
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Related party disclosures

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Guardian Media 
Limited and the 100% owned subsidiaries, Wonderland Entertainment Limited and iRadio Inc.	
			 
				  
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties				 
				  
Parties are considered to be related if one has the ability to control or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. A number of 
transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These 
transactions were carried out at commercial terms and at market rates. Outstanding balances 
at the year-end are unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been 
no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. For the year 
ended 31 December 2017, the Group has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating to 
amounts owed by related parties (2016: Nil).				  

21.

2017
$

2016
$

Income generated from related parties				  
Ultimate parent		  175	 220
Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent	  2,509 	  8,382 
				  
			    2,684 	  8,602 
Purchases from related parties				  
Ultimate parent		  6,510	 9,986
Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent	 18,265	 27,933
Other related parties		  5,067 	  5,338 
				  
			    29,842 	  43,257 
Amounts due from related parties				  
Ultimate parent		  49	 277
Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent	  1,727 	  2,265
			    1,776 	  2,542
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2017
$

2017
$

2017
$

2016
$

2016
$

2016
$

Amounts owed to related parties				  
Ultimate parent – trading	  1,090 	  1,211 
Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent – trading	  2,570 	  2,760 
Other related parties - trading	  – 	  444 
Fellow subsidiaries of ultimate parent – borrowings	  1,537 	  1,976 
			    5,197 	  6,391 

Compensation of key management personnel
Short–term employee benefits	  4,238 	  4,639 
Post-employment benefits	  172 	  158 
Contributions to defined contribution plans	  64 	  33 

Within one year		   3,036 	  3,036 
Within 2 to 5 years		              – 	  3,036 
			   3,036 	  6,072 

Related party disclosures (continued)21.

Investments at fair value through statement of income
				  
Included therein is a holding of less than 1% of the issued share capital of a fellow 
subsidiary of the ultimate parent. This investment has a carrying value of $4.01 million 
(2016: $4.01 million) at 31 December 2017. (Refer to Note 11).				 
				  
Cash and cash equivalents				  
				  
Included therein are fixed deposits with a fellow subsidiary of the ultimate parent 
amounting to $43 million at 31 December 2017 (2016: $63.8 million) (Refer to Note 12).

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group.			 

Operating lease commitments (Rental expenses)
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Related party disclosures (continued)

Operating lease commitments (Rental expenses) (continued)				 
				  
Rental expenses included within Administrative costs (Note 16) during 2017 amounted to 
$3.036 million (2016: $3.036 million).					   

Fair values and fair value hierarchies			

The carrying amount of short–term financial assets and liabilities comprising cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term investments at amortised cost, accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities and current portion of borrowings, are a reasonable estimate of their fair 
values because of the short maturity of these instruments.					  
					   
The fair value information is based on information available to management as at the dates 
presented. Although management is not aware of any factors that will significantly affect the 
fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for the purposes 
of these financial statements and, therefore the current estimates of the fair value may be 
significantly different from the amounts presented herein.					  
					   
The following table summarises the carrying amount and fair values of the financial assets and 
liabilities:										    

The fair value of borrowings has been estimated based on discounting the future cash-flows 
to maturity using current observable interest rate data, a Level 2 input. For all other financial 
assets and liabilities the carrying value is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.	
				  
					   
Investment securities classified as fair value through statement of income is a Level 1 financial 
asset. Included in the Level 1 category are financial assets that are measured in whole by 
reference to published quotes in an active market. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted 
in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, 
broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual 
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.					 

21.

22.

Carrying
amount

2017
$

Fair
value
2017

$

Carrying
amount

2016
$

Fair
value
2016

$

Borrowings	 1,537	 1,309	 1,976	 1,725
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Capital commitments and contingencies23.

Capital and other commitments				  
				  
There are capital commitments amounting to $6 million as at 31 December 2017 (2016: 
$11.4 million). This amount is due in 2018, in connection with the settlement of contractual 
amounts relative to the World Cup Media Rights as described in Note 6.				 
				  
Contingencies – legal action				  
				  
The Group operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has an element 
of litigation risk inherent to its operations. As a result, it is involved in various litigation 
proceedings arising in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.	 As disclosed in Note 
15 there were a number of writs served against the Company for libel for which provisions 
have been established and recorded in respect of these matters which were considered 
probable liabilities. 				 
				  
There are also certain other pending legal actions and other claims in which the Group 
is involved where the directors are of the opinion that, based on information provided by 
the Group’s attorneys-at-law, if any liability should arise out of these claims it is not likely 
to be probable. Accordingly no provision has been made in these consolidated financial 
statements in respect of these matters.				  
				  
Contingencies – business combination	 			 
				  
The Group acquired 100% of the voting shares of iRadio Inc., a radio broadcasting company 
that is duly registered and operates in the Republic of Guyana. As part of the acquisition 
US$500,000 was paid into escrow by the Group, representing contingent consideration 
payable to the seller when the radio licence is renewed.				  
				  
Operating lease commitments - Group as lessor				  
				  
The Group is involved in leases on transmission towers and investment properties.	
			 
Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 
December are, as follows:				  
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2017
$

2016
$

Within one year		   2,444 	  2,224 
Within 2 to 5 years		  4,002 	  5,487
			    6,446 	  7,711 
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Earnings/(loss) per share

As described in Note 2 (xvii), basic earnings/(loss) per share is computed by relating net income/
(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholder (net of preference shares) to the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year. The weighted average number of shares has 
been adjusted for the removal of treasury shares. Basic earnings/(loss) per share has been 
computed as follows:					   

Risk management

Introduction

As described in Note 2 (xvii), basic earnings/(loss) per share is computed by relating net income/
(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholder (net of preference shares) to the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year. The weighted average number of shares has 
been adjusted for the removal of treasury shares. Basic earnings/(loss) per share has been 
computed as follows:					   

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue.

24.

25.
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2017
$

2016
$

Net income/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholder	 (3,114)	 6,259
					   
Less preference share dividend	  (117)	  (117)
					   
Earnings/(loss) available to ordinary shareholders	  (3,231)	  6,142 
					   
Weighted average number of shares (’000)					  
(adjusted for treasury shares)	 39,900	 39,900
					   
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share	 (8) cents	 15 cents					

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
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Risk management (continued)				  

Risk management structure					   
					   
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for 
approving risk strategies, principles and policies and procedures. Day to day adherence to 
risk principles is carried out by the executive management of the Group in compliance with the 
policies approved by the Board of Directors.					  
					   
Concentrations of risk					   
					   
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, 
or activities in the same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their 
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political 
or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s results to 
developments affecting a particular industry. In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, 
the Group’s procedures include specific monitoring controls to focus on the maintenance of a 
diversified portfolio.					   
					   
Currency risk					   
					   
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates. Such exposure arises from sale or purchases by an operating unit 
in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency. Management monitors its exposure 
to foreign currency fluctuations which is mainly the US currency and employs appropriate 
strategies to mitigate any potential losses.					  
					   
The sensitivity to a possible change in the US dollar exchange rate, with all other variables held 
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax is as follows:					  

25.

Change in US
dollar rates

2017	 5% increase		  320
		  5% decrease		  (320)
					   
2016	 5% increase		  560
		  5% decrease		  (560)

Effect on profit
before tax

$’000
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Risk management (continued)

Currency risk					   
					   
The aggregate value of financial assets and liabilities by reporting currency are as follows:

25.

ASSETS				  
Cash and short term–deposits		   65,168 	  6,386 	  71,554 
Investment securities		   19,011 	  – 	  19,011 
Trade and other receivables		   32,111 	             – 	  32,111 
		   	 116,290 	  6,386 	  122,676 
				  
LIABILITIES				  
Borrowings		   1,537 	  – 	  1,537 
Trade and other payables		   24,000 	  3,091 	  27,091 
		   	 25,537 	  3,091 	  28,628 

ASSETS				  
Cash and short term–deposits		   87,653 	  11,197 	  98,850 
Investment securities		   4,011 	  – 	  4,011 
Trade and other receivables		   38,994 	             – 	  38,994 
		   	 130,658 	  11,197 	  141,855 
				  
LIABILITIES				  
Borrowings		   1,976 	  – 	  1,976 
Trade and other payables		   25,822 	  2,785 	  28,387 
		   	 27,798 	  2,785 	  30,363 

US
$

US
$

TT
$

TT
$

Year ended 31 December 2017

Year ended 31 December 2016

Total
$

Total
$
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Risk management (continued)				  

Credit risk					   
					   
The Group considers its credit risk with trade debtors to be limited due to the large number 
of customers comprising the Group’s customer base. The Group grants credit based on 
evaluations of its customers’ financial situation, and continually monitors the exposure of 
potential losses from granting credit. The maximum exposure is equal to the carrying amount 
of trade receivables.

With respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets which primarily comprises of cash 
and cash equivalents, the exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counter party. These 
deposits are placed with highly rated local financial institutions.

The Company’s credit risk exposure is geographically concentrated in Trinidad and Tobago. The 
Company’s credit risk exposure by industry sector of its counterparties is as follows:	
				    					 

25.

2017
$

2016
$

Gross maximum exposure

Trade receivables		  29,012	 36,271
Treasury note		  15,000	 –
Cash and short–term deposits	  71,554 	  98,850 
					   
Total credit risk exposure	  115,566 	 135,121 
					   
Government and Government agencies	 20,285	 5,013
Financial services sector	 71,554	 98,850
Marketing sector		  12,989	 17,314
Other		   10,738 	  13,944 

			    115,566 	 135,121 
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Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)					   
					   
Credit quality per category of financial asset
					   
The credit quality of the balances due from the Group’s various counterparties are internally 
determined from an assessment of each counterparty based on a combination of factors.

These factors include financial strength and the ability of the counterparty to service its 
debts, the stability of the industry or market in which it operates and its proven track record 
with the Group. The categories defined are as follows:								  

The table below illustrates the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets as at 
31 December:								    

This category includes balances due from Government and Government 
agencies and balances due from institutions that have been accorded the 
highest rating by an international rating agency or is considered to have 
the highest credit rating. These balances are considered risk free.

These are balances due from counterparties that are considered to have 
good financial strength and reputation.
	

These are balances due from counterparties that are considered to have 
fair financial strength and reputation.

Balances that are impaired.

Superior:

Desirable:

Acceptable:

Sub–standard:

25.

Superior
$

Desirable
$

Acceptable
$

Sub–standard
$

Total
$

2017	 20,285	 71,554	 23,727	 8,933	 124,499
2016	 5,013	 98,850	 31,258	 7,429	 142,550

107

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017	
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, except where otherwise stated)
(continued)



G UARDIA      N  M EDIA     L I M ITED     A N D  ITS    SU  B SIDIARIES       

31 December 2017
Borrowings	 –	 623	 1,288	 –	 1,911
Trade and other payables	 –	 27,091	          –	         –	 27,091
		  –	 27,714	 1,288	         –	 29,002

31 December 2016							     
Borrowings	 –	 1,034	 1,413	 –	 2,447
Trade and other payables	         –	 28,387	          –	         –	 28,387
		  –	 29,421	 1,413	         –	 30,834

Risk management (continued)				  

Liquidity risk					   
					   
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligation under 
normal and stress circumstances. The Group monitors its liquidity risk by considering the 
maturity of both its financial investments and financial assets and projected cash flows from 
operations. Where possible the Group utilises surplus internal funds to a large extent to finance 
its operations and ongoing projects. However, the Group also utilises available credit facilities 
such as loans and other financing options where required.							  
							     
The table summarises the maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December based on 
undiscounted repayment obligations over the remaining life of those liabilities:	

Capital management				  

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong 
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder 
value.							    
							     
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were 
made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 
31 December 2016.							   

25.

26.

On
demand

$

Within 1
year

$

1 to 5
years

$

> 5
years

$
Total

$
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